

CREATING A PATH FORWARD: INTERNATIONAL EDUCATION, CLIMATE CHANGE, AND SUSTAINABILITY

by the 2020-21 NAFSA Senior Fellows

About NAFSA

NAFSA is the largest and most comprehensive association of professionals committed to advancing international higher education. The association provides leadership to its varied constituencies through establishing principles of good practice and providing professional development opportunities. NAFSA encourages networking among professionals, convenes conferences and collaborative dialogues, and promotes research and knowledge creation to strengthen and serve the field. We lead the way in advocating for a better world through international education.

Notice of Liability

The information in this document is distributed on an "As is" basis, without warranty. While every precaution has been taken in the preparation of this document, neither the author(s) nor NAFSA shall have any liability to any persons nor entity with respect to any loss or damage caused or alleged to be caused directly or indirectly by the instruction(s) contained in this document. Please note that while NAFSA periodically checks and updates the website links included in this Digital Download, NAFSA cannot guarantee that every link to another institution's website is current.

Acceptable Use Guidelines

Electronic resources are provided for the benefit of the international education community. However, commercial use, systematic or excessive downloading, or electronic redistribution of this publication are all expressly prohibited.

Released 2021.

©2021 NAFSA: Association of International Educators. All rights reserved.

Table of Contents

Introduction	
BY DOROTHEA J. ANTONIO	1
Designing a Sustainable International Education Sector	
BY AILSA LAMONT	2
Sustainability, Climate Change, and Higher Education Governance	
BY DAVID SSEKAMATTE, PhD	5
Integrating Sustainable Development into Legal Education for Global Impact	
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	_
BY LISA SACHS, JD	8
Sustainable Urbanism: Opportunities and Challenges for Higher Education Institutions	
BY JOHN HOAL, PhD	11
Toward Sustainable Engagement in Global Higher Education	
BY JANET II JEVA PhD	14

Introduction

BY DOROTHEA J. ANTONIO

The 2020–21 NAFSA Senior Fellows are featured in this special edition of *Trends & Insights*. Recognized for their considerable experience and outstanding academic scholarship, the Fellows provide the global, interdisciplinary approaches necessary for the field of international education to consider climate change and sustainability.

At a time when the world faces multiple complex challenges, international education is uniquely positioned for its potential to influence change. The postpandemic environment will be a critical time for universities to be globally engaged for sustainability. How can international educators help design a path forward toward a sustainable world and globally engaged students? What does a sustainable future look like?

From their unique perspectives, each Fellow presents a different approach, leading to a powerful collection of readings. Ailsa Lamont (Pomegranate Global) explains how the increase in climate consciousness is now presenting itself in the field of international education and urges readers to respond to this opportunity. David Ssekamatte, PhD, (Uganda Management Institute) examines how climate change and sustainability topics can be embedded in the governance and management practices of higher education institutions and the implications for international education. Lisa Sachs, JD, (Columbia University) provides insight into the role of the legal profession in addressing the global sustainability challenge and suggests key changes law schools can implement to train future global leaders. John Hoal, PhD, (Washington University in St. Louis) looks at urban development, global inequity, and sustainability, introducing guiding principles for universities to develop innovative academic programs and global collaborations for maximum impact. Finally, Janet Ilieva, PhD, (Education Insight) considers the relationship between international education and sustainable development, access, and opportunity, using the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals as a framework for international educators.

The economic, environmental, and social aspects of sustainability for international education require thoughtful and innovative review and analysis, and NAFSA is committed to furthering the conversation and providing additional scholarship to the field. As part of this commitment, the five Senior Fellows will build on these ideas in a special session at the NAFSA 2021 Annual Conference & Expo and in a forthcoming publication.

DOROTHEA J. ANTONIO is the deputy executive director of knowledge development at NAFSA: Association of International Educators.

Designing a Sustainable International Education Sector

BY AILSA LAMONT

ublic awareness of the severity and scale of the climate challenge has grown markedly of late, in no small part due to the increasingly visible effects of a changing climate coupled with public activism. Unsurprisingly, this shift in climate-consciousness has also begun to make itself felt in the field of international education (IE).

Until recently, it was a rare IE practitioner who drew a direct line between his or her work and action on climate change, whereas now, most major IE conferences include reference to environmental sustainability. This is a vital shift given the potential for climate change to disrupt the operating environment of higher education dramatically within a matter of decades.

That this realization has arrived just as a global pandemic wreaks havoc on traditional forms of physical mobility creates a moment of reckoning for the IE sector.

New research has illuminated the scale of IE's contribution to the climate crisis; international air travel associated with student mobility (a long-time staple of IE) generates annual greenhouse gas emissions comparable to that of a medium-sized country, like Croatia or Tunisia (Shields 2019). This figure underrepresents the emissions contribution by our field, as it only refers to degree mobility and does not count exchange mobility or the extensive travel undertaken by staff and faculty.

Any optimists harboring hopes that the COVID-related drops in manufacturing, travel, and other human activity last year have eased the problem will unfortunately be disappointed. CO_2 levels continued to rise in 2020, only slightly less than the growth rate in 2019 (Copernicus 2021). In addition to 2020's other dubious distinctions, it joined the previous 5 years as part of a select and unedifying group: the hottest 6 years since climate records began.

STUDENT ATTITUDES ON SUSTAINABILITY

So how do these issues play out in terms of student attitudes? The evidence is inconclusive, as most major international surveys have only recently introduced questions on student attitudes to climate and sustainability. Additional research is clearly needed to improve the field's understanding of these dynamics. That said, current indications show most students now expect universities to take active steps to operate in a more environmentally sustainable manner.

Together, this rising eco-consciousness among students and the emergence of rankings that measure universities' performance against the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals—including climate action—create clear potential for the green credentials of a university, or even a country, to sway prospective students' decisions about where to study.

Students' growing appetite for action is mirrored by that of professionals working in our field. The Climate Action Network for International Educators (CANIE) has grown exponentially since its launch in late 2019 and is running to keep up with the demand from the sector for resources, guidance, and events to support the transition to more climate-friendly operating models.

What is driving this demand? The recognition of the growing chasm between where we are today (global greenhouse emissions still rising) and where we need to get to (carbon neutrality by 2050) as well as the knowledge that the remaining years of this decade are critical.

SUSTAINABILITY IN EDUCATION ABROAD AND INTERNATIONAL OFFICES

Higher education is at the forefront of many efforts to slow or reverse global heating, most notably through research and innovation, teaching, and investment in green campus infrastructure. Not to diminish the importance of that work, but these efforts simply will not be enough. Tackling climate change requires that we pull every lever at our disposal, which means study abroad and international offices must also consider how they might contribute to this collective effort.

We face a major dilemma, however, as international educators seek to balance the competing needs of reducing the carbon footprint of study abroad with their aspirations to provide students with access to international experiences.

Many universities and study abroad providers have chosen to concentrate their efforts on greener travel policies, offering financial incentives to students to choose destinations that can be reached by low-carbon means of transport or offsetting the emissions associated with travel.

Sustainable internationalization certainly extends beyond travel policies, however, and the response by the field of IE to the challenges and restrictions of the pandemic offers some helpful pointers for how we might approach this conundrum.

Some aspects of internationalization can be achieved by virtual means, a fact that holds true for the work undertaken by staff and faculty to support the infrastructure of IE as well as for student mobility. There are numerous examples of practitioners utilizing virtual recruitment and digital marketing, collaborating with sustainability office colleagues, creating climate innovation funds and scholarships, and embedding climate literacy across the curriculum. Collaborative Online International Learning (COIL) may have gained prominence recently as a substitute for physical mobility, but there is growing evidence that it can and should play a valuable role even beyond the pandemic.

These positive examples offer many benefits, so as word spreads and techniques are shared, they will likely come to be seen as standard good practice in internationalization, particularly as many of these approaches lend themselves well to a postpandemic world.

And yet, we face a critical decision as the pace and quantum of change are still far from sufficient. We can carry on as before, perhaps with some minor tweaks, knowing that we could have done more and that the consequences of our failure to act will be felt most keenly by people in marginalized groups and low-income countries, or we can face the future head on and do everything in our power to make a significant impact.

If we were to choose the latter option, what *could* IE look like if it were truly sustainable?

- Every single institution would factor in the carbon cost of its work and make the commitment to climate action a clear and central pillar of its strategy.
- Every student who studies abroad, whether on a short program or for a degree, would learn the basics of climate action and climate justice.
- Staff and faculty would forego some of their travel privileges to "credit" their emissions to the students who have not yet had the opportunity to explore this incredible world.
- The challenge posed by the heating planet would be viewed as a learning opportunity, a teachable moment to improve understanding of systems change and complex problem-solving.

In short, in a truly sustainable IE sector, we would keep faith in the value of our work and continue to give students chances to build their international outlook, mindset, and connections—but in a way that is as intentionally low-carbon as possible and delivers the utmost insight, empathy, and learning about the problem.

Designing a sustainable and inclusive IE sector fit for this challenge is within our power if we choose to

harness the wealth of our collective knowledge, connections, and skills. As international educators, we recognize and promote the value of studying abroad. There may never again be an opportunity such as this to step up, model global leadership, and show ourselves and others the true power of IE.

REFERENCES

Copernicus. 2021. "Copernicus: 2020 Warmest Year on Record for Europe; Globally, 2020 Ties with 2016 for Warmest Year Recorded." European Commission. https://climate.copernicus.eu/copernicus-2020-warmest-year-record-europeglobally-2020-ties-2016-warmest-year-recorded.

Shields, Robin. 2019. "The Sustainability of International Higher Education: Student Mobility and Global Climate Change." *Journal of Cleaner Production* 217:594–602.

After 25 years of professional experience—spanning capacity building, social innovation, and international education—as well as roles as international director and pro vice-chancellor international at three Australian universities, **AILSA LAMONT** founded Pomegranate Global in 2016 to guide the education sector to take action on climate change. She has since trained with The Climate Reality Project, former U.S. Vice President Al Gore's foundation to catalyze a global solution to the climate crisis. In 2019, Lamont cofounded Climate Action Network for International Educators (CANIE), a grassroots initiative by international education practitioners who see the need and the opportunity to step up and take greater action on climate.

Sustainability, Climate Change, and Higher Education Governance

BY DAVID SSEKAMATTE, PHD

atters of climate change and sustainability continue to dominate discussions across various sectors and disciplines, focusing on how economies can address the climate change phenomenon and ensure sustainable development across the globe (Boyde and Hume 2015; Filho 2017). This article examines the various ways in which climate change and sustainability aspects can be embedded in the governance and management practices of higher education institutions (HEIs) as well as the implications for the field of international education (IE).

THE ROLE OF HEI GOVERNANCE IN PROMOTING CLIMATE CHANGE AND SUSTAINABILITY EDUCATION

Ongoing scholarly discourse indicates that education, and specifically higher education, can play a key role by contributing to global efforts to address climate change and sustainability topics (Calzadilla, Mauger, and Du Plessis 2018; Filho 2015; Gale et al. 2015; Higgins and Thomas 2016). These roles include:

- integrating climate change and sustainability topics into the curricula across various disciplines to produce graduates with the knowledge and skills to address these issues in their workplaces;
- conducting scientific research and promoting innovation on climate change and sustainability to inform society and other actors of the impact, mitigation opportunities, and adaptation strategies;
- educating communities on climate change and its impact on social, economic, and political aspects of their life as well as how they can respond; and
- engaging government officials and policymakers to create awareness of climate change and sustainability topics based on research and propose policy interventions for mitigation and adaptation.

HEIs in many countries are led by external entities—such as boards, councils, or committees—that govern administrative and academic functions (Yirdaw 2016; Higgins and Thomas 2016). Such governing bodies can play a key role in promoting climate change and sustainability education. They oversee decisions on the vision, mission, strategy, resources, and operations and, therefore, can ensure that topics of climate change and sustainability are embedded into programs and practices. For instance, the governing council could influence adoption of renewable sources of energy within the institution.

EMBEDDING CLIMATE CHANGE AND SUSTAINABILITY TOPICS IN HEI GOVERNANCE

There are several ways that aspects of climate change and sustainability can be embedded in governance and management practices at HEIs:

■ Review organizational culture to embed climateand sustainability-friendly practices. This could be done by revising the organizational values and strategies, communication systems, procurement processes, and campus administrative systems to support efforts for a green campus and the use of sustainable energy sources.

- Sensitize governing bodies on the need to mainstream climate change and sustainability aspects in strategic and operational systems. This will encourage them to review institutional strategic and operational plans, policies, and practices and embed these topics throughout.
- Invest in capacity-building or trainings for all managers and support staff on aspects of climate change and sustainability to embed them into management operations.
- Revisit appraisal and performance management systems to ensure that individuals and departments report on performance indicators for climate change mitigation, adaptation, and sustainability in their work.
- Develop a "civic engagement strategy" to engage communities and partner institutions to work toward climate change mitigation and promote sustainability in their operations.
- Invest in reshaping knowledge structures by promoting interdisciplinarity and multidisciplinary teams among faculty to address climate change and sustainability aspects within their operations. For instance, connect faculty from natural science units with those from the social sciences to jointly work on a common research project.

IMPLICATIONS FOR IE AT HEIS

Embedding climate change and sustainability topics in governance and management practices of HEIs will influence IE. IE offices will need to be cognizant of current sustainability topics in designing internationalization strategies for their institutions. For example, internationalization at home (IaH) programs, like internationalizing the curriculum, will need to be reviewed to ensure that climate change and sustainability topics are addressed. IE offices should ensure that sustainability topics are embedded throughout the curriculum as well as in cocurricular activities to enable all students to become informed on these topics. For cross-border international programs (e.g., faculty in international research, study abroad programs, and visiting scholars), IE offices could develop ideas for how to support faculty in integrating topics of climate change and sustainability in their international research projects, promote interdisciplinary and multidisciplinary teams, as well as guide students

on study abroad programs to engage these topics (Deardorff and Charles 2018; Punteney 2019).

IE offices should explore designing IE activities that address climate change and sustainability topics on and off campus as a way of contributing to sustainable development in their communities. Doing so will help students, faculty, and community members become aware of these topics, as well as enhance mitigation and adaptation efforts in the communities. They should also explore climate- and sustainability-friendly practices during events and activities, such as ensuring sustainable travels, hosting climate smart events, and pursuing partnerships that promote sustainability within various areas of operations. All of these initiatives are achievable with collective effort and collaboration with the governing bodies of institutions.

CONCLUSION

Embedding climate change and sustainability aspects in the governance and management practices of HEIs has implications for IE. Therefore, IE offices will need to reflect on what they can do to promote sustainability at their campuses. Doing so will position HEIs as partners in addressing the climate change crisis and prepare the next generation of actors and champions for sustainability.

REFERENCES

Boyde, Mary Clarke, and Therese Hume. 2015. "Addressing the Challenge of Climate Changes: The Potential Role of Development Education in the Tertiary Sector." In *Policy and Practice: A Development Education Review*, ed. Stephen McCloskey. Centre for Global Education.

Calzadilla, Paola Villavicencio, Romain Mauger, and Anel Du Plessis. 2018. "Climate Change Communication in Higher Education Institutions: The Case of the North-West University in South Africa." In *Handbook of Climate Change Communication*, eds. Walter Leal, Evangelos Manolas, Anabela Marisa Azul, Ulisses M. Azeiteiro, and Henry McGhie. Cham, Switzerland: Springer International Publishing AG.

Deardorff, Darla K., and Harvey Charles, eds. 2018. Leading Internationalization: A Handbook for International Education Leaders. Sterling, VA: Stylus Publishing, LLC. Filho, Walter Leal, ed. 2015. *Handbook of Climate Change Adaptation*. Heidelberg, Germany: Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg.

Filho, Walter Leal, ed. 2017. *Climate Change Research at Universities: Addressing the Mitigation and Adaptation Challenges.* Cham, Switzerland: Springer International Publishing AG.

Gale, Fred, Aidan Davison, Graham Wood, Stewart Williams, and Nick Towle. 2015. "Four Impediments to Embedding Education for Sustainability in Higher Education." *Australian Journal of Environmental Education* 31, 2:248–63.

Higgins, Blanche, and Ian Thomas. 2016. "Education for Sustainability in Universities: Challenges and Opportunities for Change." *Australian Journal of Environmental Education* 32, 1:91–108.

Punteney, Katherine. 2019. *The International Education Handbook: Principles and Practices of the Field.* Washington, DC: NAFSA: Association of International Educators.

Yirdaw, Arega. 2016. "Quality of Education in Private Higher Institutions in Ethiopia: The Role of Governance." *SAGE Open* 6, 1:1–12.

DAVID MARTIN SSEKAMATTE, PHD, is currently a consultant and lecturer in monitoring and evaluation at the Uganda Management Institute. Previously, Ssekamatte worked with various education service and health related development organizations as program manager and monitoring and evaluation manager. He has more than 12 years of experience in program management, monitoring and evaluation, research and learning, and management consultancy in education and health sectors, as well as youth and children related programs. His research interests are mainly in the areas of sustainability and climate change education, internationalization of higher education in the African context, higher education management, as well as monitoring and evaluation. Ssekamatte holds an MA in economics from the University of Lucknow in India, and a PhD in education and social sciences from Carl von Ossietzky University of Oldenburg, Germany.

Integrating Sustainable Development into Legal Education for Global Impact

BY LISA SACHS, JD

he world stands at the precipice of transformative societal change. The relentless pursuit of wealth at any cost has created unprecedented dangers: climate change, collapse of ecosystems, and historically high levels of income and wealth inequality, leading to new social tensions and instabilities. In the race against time, the world collectively embraced the globally supported Sustainable Development Goals and the Paris Agreement; together, these efforts chart a path toward a world that is more inclusive, just, and environmentally sustainable, healing societies and averting deeper crises.

A sustainable and just future will require "a major change in the organization of societal, political and economic activities," led by the coordinated actions of governments, businesses, financial institutions, civil society, and academia (Sachs et al. 2019). Some are leading the way—notably the policymakers in the European Union, Japan, and Korea, who have announced not only ambitious climate goals but robust "Green New Deals" that incorporate transformations in energy systems, food systems, infrastructure, jobs, and so on. Some industries are following, such as the business and financial sectors, which are awakening to the risks of their continued quest for profits.

Unfortunately, the legal profession lags behind, adhering closely to its traditional roles in service of clients and ignoring the brewing storm. A transformation is needed, and for that, we should look to law schools and how future lawyers are trained.

ETHICS AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF LAWYERS AND LAW SCHOOLS

In the United States, the American Bar Association (ABA) requires law schools to prepare their students "for effective, ethical, and responsible participation as members of the legal profession" (ABA 2020). However, what "ethical and responsible" lawyering constitutes

is left to the schools (Center on the Legal Profession at Harvard Law School 2018), and few have interpreted that standard to require training lawyers to understand the world's challenges and the lawyer's central role in contributing to—or addressing—them.

Indeed, lawyers play a central role in the sustainable development challenge. Law—as it is created, used, and enforced—underpins societal allocations of costs and benefits, delineates the relationship between property rights and the public good, and drives innovation while providing checks on private power. Lawyers are at the cross-section of societal transformation; they have a unique and central role in navigating society out of crisis and toward a just and sustainable future.

Law schools have a responsibility to their students and society to instill a deeper appreciation of the power lawyers hold to shape societies through their practices and decisions over which causes to champion and which to decline. Through the numerous programs for international students, including master of laws (LLM) and exchange programs, law schools also have a unique opportunity to reflect and exchange on the transnational nature of legal responsibilities and ethics.

DEVELOPMENTS IN THE LEGAL FIELD

In 2013, the ABA encouraged law schools "to help promote a better understanding of the principles of sustainable development in relevant fields of law" (ABA 2013). The report accompanying the resolution explained, "In a world with a growing economy and population, widespread poverty, and growing environmental degradation and greenhouse gas emissions, sustainable development will be increasingly important to lawyers and their clients." Accordingly, the report anticipated that an understanding of the challenges and approaches to sustainable development, including the interrelated components of environmental protection, economic development, and social justice "will be critically important for the legal profession." Yet the uptake since has been too little and too slow.

While legal ethics remain narrowly construed and taught as the duties owed by lawyers to their clients and the courts, society has a broader understanding and will increasingly hold lawyers to account. For instance, in October 2020, a group of Yale Law students published *The 2020 Law Firm Climate Change Scorecard* (Law Students for Climate Accountability 2020), a scathing report of the role that top law firms play in the climate crisis. The students evaluated the core activities of the law firms—litigation, transactions, and lobbying—and concluded that, overwhelmingly, the 100 most prestigious law firms in the country are doing "significantly more...for clients who exacerbate the climate crisis than for those who address it."

LAW SCHOOLS OF THE FUTURE

The law schools that will best prepare their students for future legal practice will be those that successfully integrate society's triple bottom lines—economic, social, and environmental—into core legal training. Indeed, our environmental and social crises and society's response to them are relevant to all traditional legal courses. Two years ago, Warren Lavey (2019) delivered a tremendous resource to law schools with his "Toolkit for Integrating Climate Change into Ten High-Enrollment Law School Courses." Lavey (2019, pp. 215–6) emphasized:

Effective lawyering requires understanding threats from changing environmental conditions and laws, navigating complex regulatory mechanisms, developing innovative transactions and litigations, guiding corporations in considering and disclosing climate-related measures and risks, planning land uses for resiliency and lower emissions, and other activities demanding knowledge and skills absent from most law courses.

In his toolkit, he demonstrates the critical relevance of climate change to 10 areas of law: contracts, property, torts, civil procedure, constitutional, business associations and securities, tax, administrative, landuse planning, and international law. To this list, one could add other areas of law, including immigration, international arbitration, and criminal law, as well as the critical relevance of social inequality to all of these fields.

Law schools around the world are teaching the future stewards of our society; they have a unique opportunity, and indeed responsibility, to provide law students with all of the understanding and perspective that that role requires. Key elements are aligning to position law schools at the forefront of these efforts; the ABA has underscored the importance of integrating sustainable development, students are calling for change, employers value skills mirroring the market, and phenomenal law professors have expertise in critical areas of sustainable development. Many law schools welcome cohorts of international students each year, bringing perspectives and experiences that can enrich all students' understandings of global challenges and seeking the most globally relevant legal tools and skills for a broad set of global careers. The law schools that integrate these components will be most successful at attracting and training tomorrow's leaders.

REFERENCES

American Bar Association (ABA). 2013. *Report Accompanying Resolution 105 on Sustainable Development 1*. https://perma.cc/BJ2Z-7RE8.

American Bar Association (ABA). 2020. *ABA Standards and Rules of Procedure for Approval of Law Schools:* 2020–2021. https://www.americanbar.org/groups/legal_education/resources/standards/.

Center on the Legal Profession at Harvard Law School. 2018. "Teaching Ethics and Professionalism: Preparing Law Students for Character and Fitness." *The Practice* 4, 3. https://thepractice.law.harvard.edu/article/teaching-ethics-and-professionalism/.

Lavey, Warren G. 2019. "Toolkit for Integrating Climate Change into Ten High-Enrollment Law School Courses." *Environmental Law* 49, 2:513–86.

Law Students for Climate Accountability. 2020. *The* 2020 Law Firm Climate Change Scorecard, October. https://www.ls4ca.org/climate-change-scorecard.

Sachs, Jeffrey D., Guido Schmidt-Traub, Mariana Mazzucato, Dirk Messner, Nebojsa Nakicenovic, and Johan Rockström. 2019. "Six Transformations to Achieve the Sustainable Development Goals." *Nature Sustainability* 2, 9:805–14.

LISA SACHS, JD, is the director of the Columbia Center on Sustainable Investment (CCSI). Since joining CCSI in 2008, she established, and now oversees, CCSI's robust research portfolio and has led advisory work in Chile, Guinea, Malawi, Mozambique, Namibia, Paraguay, Tanzania, and Timor-Leste, among other countries. Sachs has also been influential in CCSI's expansion into international education, including three residential executive training courses on sustainable investment at Columbia University. She serves on the Academic Advisory Committee to SDG Academy, the flagship education initiative of the United Nations Sustainable Development Solutions Network. Sachs received a bachelor's degree in economics from Harvard University and earned a juris doctor and a master's degree in international affairs from Columbia University, where she was a James Kent Scholar and recipient of the Parker School Certificate in international and comparative law.

Sustainable Urbanism: Opportunities and Challenges for Higher Education Institutions

BY JOHN HOAL, PHD

he design, development, and management of cities is instrumental to the challenge of combating climate change and moving the planet toward a more sustainable future. Approximately 55 percent of the world's population (4.25 billion people) live in cities today, a number expected to grow to 6.8 billion people or 70 percent of the world's population by 2050 (United Nations 2018).

Cities are engines of economic growth, centers of innovation, and arenas for social transformation. They generate approximately 85 percent of the world's gross domestic product, while at the same time being one of the greatest contributors to climate change and the overuse of the earth's planetary systems (United Nations 2019). When cities are understood as metabolic systems and their impact is quantified through their ecological footprint, the significant role of cities in exceeding the bio-physical planetary boundaries is apparent.

Without a significant change to how cities are designed, developed, and managed, the projected growth of cities will result in an unprecedented and unsustainable demand on the planet's biosphere and an increasingly large carbon footprint that will most likely prohibit achieving the goal of limiting global warming to 1.5–2.0 degrees Celsius per the Paris Climate Agreement. A new teaching model for city design and development based on sustainable and resilient urban development and climate mitigation and adaption is required. Higher education institutions (HEIs) must respond to this challenge.

Historically, cities are the greatest drivers of prosperity, creativity, innovation, and social change. With many of the leading HEIs located in cities and driving innovation therein, higher education becomes an essential partner to facilitate the necessary transformations. In order to address the challenges of climate change and create the necessary knowledge

base for a sustainable future, HEIs (especially those located in metropolitan areas) need to have a major focus on the design, development, and management of cities—humanity's habitat.

THE TWENTY-FIRST CENTURY HIGHER EDUCATION IMPERATIVE: SUSTAINABLE, RESILIENT, AND CLIMATE-READY URBANISM

Today, there is a lack of academic programs in higher education focused on creating the necessary city design, development, and management professional expertise and knowledge required to address the varied and localized implications of climate change in cities and the path toward a resilient and sustainable future. To this end, HEIs need to develop new, integrated city design, development, and management academic programs utilizing the next-generation, inter- and transdisciplinary knowledge base that should be deeply rooted in HEIs' evidence-based research, experimentation, innovation, and practice for climate-ready, resilient, and sustainable urbanism.

FRAMEWORK PRINCIPLES

HEIs as a collective, global enterprise should adopt the following principles in developing the new sustainable, resilient, and climate-ready urbanism academic programs:

1. Inter- and Transdisciplinary Knowledge
Climate change and sustainability requires the

creation of new research methodologies and knowledge bases that utilize full-spectrum interand transdisciplinary systems thinking. Building a sustainable, resilient, and climate-ready city will require the life, physical, and social sciences as well as the arts and humanities to develop new streams of integrated and holistic knowledge and methodologies for a multi-scalar spatial and temporal approach to the design, development, and management of cities. Creating this knowledge base is a fundamental task of HEIs.

2. Co-Creation of Knowledge and Evidence-Based Research

For this knowledge to be actionable for communities and to overcome the "know-do gap," it is essential that communities co-create this knowledge from evidence-based research and practice. This approach requires long-term and in-place community engagement and commitment by HEIs in partnership with industry, government, NGOs, and activists. HEIs need to lead this engagement based on an agreed upon set of transparent and articulated ethics and research models that value culture, people, place, and shared responsibility for mutual benefit.

3. Integration of Research and Teaching

HEIs need to establish a global network of university-wide research and teaching centers to create world-changing innovation at the scale necessary to combat urban climate change and achieve a sustainable future. HEIs should establish these centers to integrate research and academic programs and overcome siloed disciplinary research and teaching. In partnership with other HEIs, these centers need to engage in transnational projects and provide a venue for innovation for sustainable, resilient, and climate-ready cities.

4. Open-Source Global Knowledge Commons

Climate change is an emergent, complex, multiscalar, and transboundary crisis in an unequal world that has and will continue to have varied and inequitable spatial and temporal impacts on communities. In turn, communities have very different approaches and available resources to mitigate or adapt to these evolving conditions. HEIs need to research these varied impacts, approaches, and resource limitations in order to innovate applicable solutions and make this knowledge available to *all* through an opensource global knowledge commons.

5. Radical and Ethical Pedagogical Programs and Research Practices

For academic programs and research protocols to be globally applicable, HEIs need to embrace radical and ethical pedagogical practices, foster experiential and transformative learning, and address the dominance of the Western-centric educational model. It will also require a focus by HEIs on multi-institutional and international post-professional education and advanced research degrees. Thereby, HEIs can address the global inequity in education, which is essential to the creation of livable, sustainable, and climate-ready cities as well as addressing the local climate challenges and the particular geographical distribution of the future growth of cities.

IMPLICATIONS FOR INTERNATIONAL EDUCATION

Given the global scale of the climate crisis with its immense collateral impact on cities and the need to move toward urban sustainability, creating relevant and evolving models for the design, development, and management of cities is an essential and immediate task for higher education. To achieve this at the speed and scale needed to successfully impact the crisis, international educators must form global partnerships and collaborations. The creation of a global network of urban sustainability research and teaching centers, based on the framework principles noted above, will enhance the ability for HEIs to address these challenges locally and globally, and equitably and sustainably. Only through active international engagement, teaching, research, and innovation partnerships by HEIs on a long-term basis will urban communities become climate-ready, resilient, and sustainable.

REFERENCES

United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division. 2018. *The World's Cities in 2018: Data Booklet.* New York, NY: United Nations. https://www.un.org/en/events/citiesday/assets/pdf/the_worlds_cities_in_2018_data_booklet.pdf.

United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division. 2019. *World Urbanization Prospects: The 2018 Revision*. New York, NY: United Nations. https://population.un.org/wup/Publications/Files/WUP2018-Report.pdf.

JOHN HOAL, PHD, is a professor of architecture and urban design. Hoal was the chair of Urban Design from 2007 to 2019, directing the master of urban design program. He was the founding director of the doctor of sustainable urbanism degree, serving from 2015 to 2019, and is currently a faculty fellow at the university's Institute for Public Health. Before joining Washington University in St. Louis, Hoal cofounded St. Louis's first urban design department and was the director of urban design for 7 years. In 2000, he founded the design and research firm H3 Studio Inc., a national and international planning, design, and research firm with offices in St. Louis, Missouri, and Johannesburg, South Africa.

Toward Sustainable Engagement in Global Higher Education

BY JANET ILIEVA, PHD

he reach of global higher education engagement is understated, and often it is reduced to measuring the number of international students and the tuition income they bring to higher education institutions (HEIs) and their local communities. Comparisons are not often provided regarding international graduate outcomes, internationalization at home, and international partnerships. UNESCO data (see http://data.uis.unesco.org/) point to 5.6 million globally mobile learners in 2018; however, there are no estimates about the breadth of universities' courses delivered across national borders or the true scale of international research cooperation beyond citation metrics. Simultaneously, there is a growing awareness around the universities' contribution to sustainable development. The United Nations Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) provide an excellent framework for global engagement to advance health and education and tackle shared challenges like climate change, poverty, and food security. The past year highlighted the strength of multinational scientific collaboration and knowledge-sharing in the quest for COVID-19 vaccines and illustrated the positive impact of international cooperation in the face of global challenges.

This article reflects on a year filled with disruptions and considers their mid- to long-term impact on HEIs. The list of priorities draws on the challenges many HEIs are facing in response to shifts in the external environment. This article pays special attention to the potential opportunities internationalization at home and transnational education (TNE) contribute to the sustainable development and climate change agenda. TNE is broadly defined as education delivered in a country other than the one where the degree-awarding institution is based (Universities UK n.d.).

ECONOMIC DOWNTURN AND WIDENING INEQUALITIES

Despite all of the challenges, there is a range of unintended consequences of the pandemic that can be viewed as silver linings. The pivot to online learning in 2020 required a significant investment by HEIs and governments when face-to-face instruction was suspended. As a result, online and blended learning are likely to become embedded in the standard education delivery, presenting an opportunity to

continue to engage with learners irrespective of their geographical location.

Many universities were already offering virtual internships to students who are unable to travel from their home country. Some are drawing on their international partners in the joint delivery of programs abroad, whereas others are in the pursuit of such partners to ensure that uninterrupted education takes place and their international students are supported locally. Will these new means of engagement remain in the future? The opportunity is certainly there. In addition to widening access through internationalization at home efforts, TNE provides environmentally friendly means to sustain the delivery of programs and strengthens global connections.

SUSTAINABLE ENGAGEMENT THROUGH INTERNATIONALIZATION AT HOME

A very small proportion of the world's tertiary education learners have the means to study abroad. An even smaller number of students participate in study abroad

credit mobility, or access short study abroad experiences. In a recent article for the Center for International Higher Education, Tsiligiris and I (2021) argue:

Increasingly, globally-minded students are environmentally conscious, and their choice of study opportunities is no longer solely focused on career prospects. Institutions' carbon footprint and contribution to sustainable development policies globally are likely to become a critical decision-making factor for students. The question is whether this change will be demand-driven or whether higher education institutions will take leadership on this matter.

There is a clear opportunity for universities to collectively take ownership and contribute to the climate change agenda. Greener means of experiencing study abroad will evolve, and students will continue to demand this from the institution of their choice. Additionally, engaging all students with the SDGs is a task for all education providers. A well thought-out and carefully considered curriculum, which draws on the challenges the world faces, will emerge as a necessity for each HEI claiming to be globally engaged.

TNE'S CONTRIBUTION TO SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

As previously argued, the breadth and impact of TNE on the host country remain relatively unexplored. While both Australian and UK universities report large numbers of TNE students, most countries do not collect data on their cross-border education activities.

Also, collaborative teaching through TNE has enabled local capacity-building and development in subject areas that lack local expertise (British Council, Philippines 2021). Closer collaborations between HEIs globally contribute to a greater awareness of the challenges around widening access to education. Research shows that TNE widens students' study options (Tsiligiris, Lawton, and Hill 2021) and responds to the needs of those with family and work commitments. An exploratory research shows that TNE appeals to students who often speak two or more languages. This is valuable for international businesses seeking to recruit talent with language skills. TNE reverses brain drain by attracting international students to the geographical locations in which it is taught (Ilieva et al. 2021). Still, the contribution of TNE to sustainable development remains broadly unexplored.

McNamara and Knight (2015, 45) distinguish between collaborative and stand-alone TNE. Collaborative TNE provision takes the shape of strategic partnerships between the host institution and the sending HEIs. Degrees become more valuable when issued by HEI partners; these degrees bring a wide range of benefits to students, such as enriched cultural and academic experiences that are valued by employers, degree recognition across several countries, and access to labor markets.

CONCLUSION

This article uses the United Nations SDGs framework to raise awareness about the contribution of HEIs to sustainable development through their internationalization at home programs and TNE activities. In addition to the introduction of virtual mobility, many HEIs are advancing projects that bring together students from different geographical locations. Increasingly, programs that focus on public health, climate change, and sustainable development are gaining popularity with students.

Engaging in collaborative TNE provides the means to develop programs that contribute to local capacity-building in niche subject areas that are limited or do not exist locally. The contribution of TNE is primarily in widening access to quality education and advancing opportunities for lifelong learning (SDG 4).

REFERENCES

British Council, Philippines. 2021. "Joint Development of Niche Programmes Through Philippines–UK Linkages." https://www.britishcouncil.ph/tne/about/the-project.

Ilieva, Janet, Pat Killingley, Vangelis Tsiligiris, and Uwe Brandenburg. 2021. *Local Impact of Transnational Education: A Pilot Study in Selected European Union Countries*. London, UK: British Council. https://www.britishcouncil.org/education/he-science/knowledge-centre/transnational-education/local-impact-TNE-Europe.

Ilieva, Janet, and Vangelis Tsiligiris. 2021. "Globally Engaged and Locally Relevant: Revisiting International Higher Education." *International Higher Education*, Spring 106.

McNamara, John, and Jane Knight. 2015. *Transnational Education Data Collection Systems: Awareness, Analysis, Action.* London, UK: British Council and DAAD. https://www.britishcouncil.org/sites/default/files/1.1_report_tne_data_collection_system.pdf.

Tsiligiris, Vangelis, William Lawton, and Christopher Hill, eds. 2021. *Importing Transnational Education: Capacity, Sustainability and Student Experience from the Host Country Perspective*. London, UK: Palgrave MacMillan.

Universities UK. n.d. "What is UK HE TNE?" https://www.universitiesuk.ac.uk/International/heglobal/Pages/what-is-transnational-education.aspx.

JANET ILIEVA, PHD, is founder and director of Education Insight, a research consultancy specializing in international higher education. Ilieva's research focuses on global student mobility, national policies and regulatory environments for higher education engagement, university partnerships, and transnational education. Before joining the British Council in 2004, Ilieva started her career as a university lecturer in economics, leading the department's work on higher education research and market intelligence. In May 2013, she joined the Higher Education Funding Council for England (HEFCE) as head of the HEFCE Observatory. There, she published on international student demand for higher education in England, with a strong focus on transnational education. Ilieva regularly undertakes research on higher education engagement for government departments, the university sector, and international organizations in Europe and Asia. Her latest research studies institutional frameworks for global engagement and sustainable development.